UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

FORT WORTH EMPLOYEES’
RETIREMENT FUND and CITY OF
MIAMI GENERAL EMPLOYEES’ & Civil Action No. 09-CV-638
SANITATION EMPLOYEES’
RETIREMENT TRUST, on behalf of
themselves and all similarly situated CORRECTED CLASS ACTION
investors, COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS
Plaintiffs,
ECF CASE
v.
JURY TRIAL DEMAND
BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION,
KENNETH D. LEWIS, and JOHN A.
THAIN,
Defendants. V

Plaintiffs allege as follows based upon personal knowledge as to themselves and
otherwise upon an investigation conducted by counsel, which included, among other things, a
review of the following material: (a) filings made with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC™); (b) press releases, news reports and analyst reports; (c) transcripts of conference calls
with securities analysts; and (d) other publicly-available news reports.

L. INTRODUCTION

1. This action is brought on behalf of shareholders of Bank of America Corporation
(“Bank of America” or the “Company”) and arises from material misstatements and omissions in
proxy communications and other public statements with respect to Bank of America’s acquisition

of Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc. (“Merrill Lynch”). This action asserts claims under Section 14(a) of



the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 78n(a), and Rule 14a-9,
17 C.F.R. § 240.14a-9, promulgated thereunder by the SEC, which claims seek redress on the
basis of negligence and do not sound in fraud. This action also asserts separate claims under
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5,
promulgated thereunder by the SEC, as well as under Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act, which
claims do sound in fraud.

2. On September 15, 2008, Bank of America and Merrill Lynch announced that they
had entered into an agreement for Bank of America to acquire Merrill Lynch in an all-stock
transaction valued at approximately $50 billion (the “Acquisition”). Under the terms of thé
agreement, holders of Merrill Lynch common stock would have a right to receive 0.8595 of a
share of Bank of America common stock for each share of Merrill Lynch common stock held
immediately prior to the Acquisition. A total of more than 1.7 billion shares of Bank of America
common stock were expected to be issued to Merrill Lynch shareholders in connection with the
Acquisition.

3. The agreement required the approval of Bank of America shareholders. To that
end, Bank of America and Merrill Lynch, under the signatures of their respective Chairmen and
Chief Executive Officers, defendants Kenneth D. Lewis and John A. Thain, issued a joint proxy
statement dated October 31, 2008 (the “Proxy Statement”) to the shareholders of Bank of
America soliciting their approval for the Acquisition and recommending a vote in favor of the
Acquisition.

4, The Proxy Statement contained material misstatements and omissions. The Proxy



Statement did not accurately disclose Merrill Lynch’s financial condition and did not disclose the
significant risks and liabilities that Bank of America and its shareholders would be assuming by
acquiring Merrill Lynch. Nor did the Proxy Statement reveal that Bank of Americaand its
advisors had not conducted adequate diligence on Merrill Lynch and that, as a result, they lacked
a reasonable basis for the recommendations and other statements set forth in the Proxy
Statement. As a result of defendants’ extraordinary negligence, the Proxy Statement contained
material misstatements and omissions concerning these matters. These negligent
misrepresentations were in violation of Section 14(a) and Rule 14a-9.

5. The Proxy Statement announced that a vote with respect to the Acquisition would
be held by Bank of America shareholders at a special meeting approximately one month later, on
December 5, 2008. In the interim, defendants were obligated, pursuant to Section 14(a) and Rule
14a-9, to correct and update the misstatements contained in the Proxy Statement and were
required to inform shareholders of any material adverse developments at Merrill Lynch that could
have a significant impact on Bank of America and its shareholders in the event the Acquisition
were consummated. Defendants failed to fulfill this duty and did not update or correct the
statements in the Proxy Statement prior to December 5, 2008, even as Merrill Lynch’s material
losses mounted beyond anything previously disclosed The failure to update or correct the Proxy
Statement was a further violation of Section 14(a) and Rule 14a-9.

6. As planned, the Bank of America shareholders’ vote on the Acquisition was held
on schedule on December 5, 2008. The Acquisition was overwhelmingly approved, with 82% of

votes cast in favor of the transaction. This vote was obtained improperly on the basis of material



misstatements and omissions in the Proxy Statement and related disclosures in violation of
Section 14(a) and Rule 14a-9, which directly caused substantial harm to the Class, as defined
below.

7. The Acquisition closed on January 1, 2009. On the same date, Bank of America
issued a press release announcing the Acquisition’s completion. The press release contained
numerous positive statements concerning the Acquisition and the joined companies, touting the
“creat[ion of] a premier financial services franchise with significantly enhanced wealth
management, investment banking and international capabilities.” The statements in this press
release were made in violation of Section 10(b) and Rule 1'Ob—5 because they failed to disclose
material facts known to or recklessly disregarded by defendants.

8. In particular, these statements did not reveal that Merrill Lynch’s financial
condition was in such a deteriorated state that Bank of America had actually considered
withdrawing from the Acquisition prior to closing. Nor did they reveal that, given Merrill
Lynch’s unstable financial condition, Bank of America was only willing to complete the
transaction because the federal government had undertaken to assist Bank of America to absorb
the acquisition of Merrill Lynch by, among other things, engaging in a highly dilutive purchase of
additional Bank of America shares. Indeed, Defendant Lewis regarded the severe state of Merrill
Lynch’s financial condition as such a significant risk that on December 17, 2008—more than two
full weeks before the self-congratulatory January 1, 2009 press release—Lewis conducted
personal meetings with the Chairman of the Federal Reserve Board and the Secretary of the

Treasury, threatening to withdraw from the Acquisition unless the federal government agreed to



provide additional financial assistance to Bank of America. Merrill Lynch’s mounting losses
were even discussed at a Merrill Lynch board meeting on December §, 2008—the last Merill
Lynch board meeting prior to the Acquisition closing date—in which, according to The Wall
Street Journal, Defendant Thain described November as “one of the worst months on Wall Street
in history.” None of this highly material information was revealed to the investing public, as
required by Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5.

9. The true facts concerning Merrill Lynch’s financial condition and the severely
negative impact it would have on Bank of America and its shareholders began to emerge
approximately six weeks after defendants had procured the votes of Bank of America
shareholders pursuant to the untrue Proxy Statement and only two weeks after the Acquisition
had been completed. After the markets had closed on January 14, 2009, investors learned that
Bank of America would most likely be receiving a significant injection of additional capital from
the federal government and that the federal government would backstop billions of dollars of
losses on toxic assets—all necessitated as a result of the Acquisition and the deteriorated state of
Merrill Lynch. Thereafter, on January 16, 2009, investors learned that the federal financial
assistance to Bank of America would consist of a $20 billion investment in preferred stock and a
guarantee to backstop future losses on $118 billion in toxic assets, mainly from the Merrill Lynch
portfolio. On January 16, 2009, Bank of America also issued its preliminary financial results for
the fourth quarter and full year, 2008, disclosing an overall loss for the fourth quarter of $1.79
billion, led by a stunning $15.31 billion fourth quarter net loss at Merrill Lynch. Based on this

new information, on January 20, 2009, analysts concluded that Bank of America would likely



need to raise an additional $80 billion to restore its capital to adequate levels. These revelations
caused the price of Bank of America stock to tumble, from a closing price of $10.20 per share on
January 14, 2009 to close at $5.10 per share on January 20, 2009, a stunning 50% decline.

10.  This action seeks to recover damages, under Section 14(aj and Rule 14a-9, on
behalf of Bank of America shareholders who were eligible to vote on the Acquisition at the
December 5, 2008 Bank of America shareholder meeting, pursuant to the matefial misstatements
and omissions negligently set forth in the Proxy Statement and related disclosures. This action
also seeks to recover damages for securities fraud under Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 on behalf
of investors who purchased or otherwise acquired the securities of Bank of America during the
period from January 2, 2009 until January 20, 2009, during which period defendants either knew
or recklessly disregarded material facts that were not disclosed to the investing public.

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

11.  This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 27 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act™), 28 U.S.C. § 78aa.

12.  Venue is proper in this District because acts performed in furtherance of the
transactions complained of in this action occurred in substantial part in this District.

III. PARTIES

A. Plaintiffs
13.  Plaintiff City of Miami General Employees’ & Sanitation Employees’ Retirement
Trust owned shares of Bank of America common stock as of the October 10, 2008 record date

and continued to hold these shares through the vote on December 5, 2008, as set forth in the



certification attached hereto as Exhibit A.
14.  Plaintiff Fort Worth Employees’ Retirement Fund purchased shares of Bank of

America common stock during the Class Period as set forth in the certification attached hereto as
Exhibit B.

B. Defendants

15.  Defendant Bank of America, a Delaware corporation, is a financial holding
company, providing a range of banking and non-banking financial services and products in the
United States and internationally.

16.  Defendant Kenneth D. Lewis (“Lewis™) is, and at all relevant times was, the
Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of Bank of America. Lewis
solicited approval of the Acquisition through his recommendation as a member of the Company’s
board of directors (the “Board” or “BOD”) appearing in the Proxy Statement for Shareholders to
vote in favor of the Acquisition. Lewis also personally signed a cover letter in the Proxy
Statement soliciting Shareholder approval of the Acquisition.

17.  Defendant John A. Thain (“Thain’) was, at the times relevant to this action, the
Chief Executive Officer of Merrill Lynch and, in that capacity, he personally signed the Proxy
Statement soliciting the votes of Bank of America shareholders in favor Qf the Acquisition. The
agreements entered into in connection with the Acquisition contemplated that Thain would
assume a senior executive position managing Merrill Lynch’s operations following the

Acquisition.



IV. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

18.  Plaintiffs bring this action as a class action under Rule 23 of the Federal Rule of
Civil Procedure on behalf of a class (the “Class™) consisting of (i) all Bank of America
shareholders who held shares as of the record date of October 10, 2008 and were entitled to vote
with respect to the Acquisition at the December 5, 2008 special meeting of Bank of America
shareholders and were damaged thereby, and (ii) all persons who purchased or otherwise
acquired the securities of Bank of America in the period from January 2, 2009 through January
20, 2009 (the “Class Period”) and were damaged thereby. Excluded from the Class are the
defendants herein, members of the immediate families of the defendants, and any subsidiary,
affiliate, or controlled person of any such person or entity. Also excluded from the Class are any
persons or entities who acquired their Bank of America shares during the Class Period by
exchanging their Merrill Lynch shares pursuant to the Acquisition.

19.  The Class is so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable. As of
October 10, 2008, there were 5,021,554,382 shares of Bank of America common stock
outstanding held by approximately 259,955 record holders and 7,667 shares of Bank of America
Series B Preferred Stock held by approximately 30 record holders.

20.  Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the other members of the Class,
because Plaintiffs and all membersl of the Class sustained damages arising out of Defendants’
conduct in violation of law as complained of herein.

21.  Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the

Class and have retained counsel competent and experienced in class action and investor



litigation.

22. A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient
adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members is impracticable. Furthermore, as
the damages suffered by individual members of the Class may be relatively small, the expense
and burden of individual litigation make it impossible for the members of the Class individually
to redress the wrongs done to them. There will be no difficulty in the management of this action
as a class action.

23.  Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and
predominate over any questions affecting solely individual members of the Class. Among the
questions of law and fact common to the Class are:

(a) whether defendants violated Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act and
Rule 14a-9 promulgated thereunder by the SEC in issuing the Proxy Statements or in failing to
update and correct the Proxy Statement;

(b) whether defendants violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule
10b-5 promulgated thereunder by making materially false or misleading public statements or
otherwise failing to disclose material adverse information concerning the results of Merrill
Lynch’s operations; and

(©) the appropriate relief for the wrongs complained of in this Complaint.



V. SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS UNDER SECTION 14a AND RULE 14a-9

A. Bank of America Agrees to Acquire Merrill Lynch

24.  Bank of America, one of the world’s largest financial institutions, is a bank
holding company and a financial holding company under U.S. federal law. Bank of America
serves individual consumers, small and middle market businesses and large corporations with a
full range of banking, investing, asset management and other financial and risk-management
products and services.

25.  Prior to its acquisition of Merrill Lynch, Bank of America’s operational strength
and profitability came in principal from providing unmatched convenience in the United States,
serving more than 59 million consumer and small business relationships with more than 6,000
retail banking offices, more than 18,000 ATMs and award-winning online banking with nearly
24 million active users.

26.  These advantages were magnified by increasing defaults on sub-prime mortgage
loans and related mortgage-backed securities issued and/or held by other banks. Bank of
America claimed to have judiciously avoided significant exposure to such toxic assets, which,
according to Bank of America, left it in an extremely strong competitive position within the
financial services industry. Bank of America came to be regarded as a “fortress bank” with an
impregnable balance sheet guaranteed to weather the expected emerging storms of write downs
and insolvencies.

27.  The turmoil affecting the financial markets created the opportunity for Bank of

America to acquire Merrill Lynch. On Saturday, September 13, 2008, defendant Thain contacted
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